IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 84,061

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

ERIC SCHOPP,

Respondent/Appellee.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

 \bigcirc

JOAN FOWLER Bureau Chief Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 339067

PATRICIA ANN ASH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 365629 Third Floor 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT9
ARGUMENT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING DEFENDANT'S DISCOVERY OBJECTION AFTER INQUIRY WAS MADE TO DETERMINE PREJUDICE TO DEFENDANT
CONCLUSION15

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE15

TABLE OF CITATIONS

.

<u>CASE</u> <u>PAGE</u>
Borges v. State, 459 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)13
Bradford v. State, 278 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 1983)12
Brown v. State, 515 So. 2d 211, 213-214 (Fla. 1987)13
Cumbie v. State, 345 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1977)12
Hall v. State, 509 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 1987)12
Jones v. State, 477 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985)13
Larkin v. State, 474 So. 2d 1282, 1284 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)13
Marshall v. State,
413 So. 2d 872, 873 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972) <u>quashed in part on other grounds</u> , 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984)13
<pre>quashed in part on other grounds, 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984)</pre>
quashed in part on other grounds, 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984)
quashed in part on other grounds, 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984) Matheson v. State, 500 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1987) McDugle v. State, 591 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) Richardson v. State,
quashed in part on other grounds, 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984) Matheson v. State, 500 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1987) McDugle v. State, 591 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971) Small v. State,
quashed in part on other grounds, 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984) Matheson v. State, 500 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1987) McDugle v. State, 591 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) Michardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971) Small v. State, 630 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 1994) Smith v. State,

OTHER AUTHORITIES:

.

Fla.	R.	Crim.	Ρ.	3.220(b)(1)(a)11
Fla.	R.	Crim.	Р.	3.701

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent, Eric Schopp, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant on appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The record and transcript shall be symbolized by "R" and "T" respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit (St. Lucie County) with Count I, armed burglary of a dwelling, Count II and Count III, grand theft. (R. 1-2). The defendant was convicted of the lesser included offenses of burglary of a dwelling under Count I and petit theft under Count II and III (R. 21-22). The trial judge sentenced defendant within his Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701 sentencing guidelines range to three (3) years probation with special condition of sixty (60) days in the county jail (R. 24-30).

The defendant timely filed notice of appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District (R. 33) raising the following argument:

> THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S DISCOVERY OBJECTION TO A STATE WITNESS NOT LISTED BY THE STATE IN PRETRIAL DISCOVERY AND THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE RICHARDSON'S INQUIRY.

On July 6, 1994, the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion reversing defendant's conviction and remanding for a new trial as mandated by <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971) and <u>Smith v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986). The court also certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> Should The Per Se Rule of <u>Smith</u> ¹ Be Reconsidered In Light Of The Principles Set Out in DiGuilio

This appeal follows.

¹ <u>Smith v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986).

² State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In opening statement to the jury, the defense counsel made the following statement:

MR. FOSTER: Yes, Judge. Eric is a young man who grew up in Port St. Lucie, he went to Port St. Lucie High, he has a father Wayne and a mother Sharon that lives there in Port St. Lucie. Now December 2, 1992, Eric did something very stupid. He entered into someone's house, the house was not his.

When he entered into the house, he removed a number of items. Among those items was a gun, the gun was in a case. You'll learn that after leaving the house, removing the items and leaving the house, Eric left the area. He was shortly apprehended by Detective Bennett and other officers of the Port St. Lucie Police Department. Almost immediately Eric was sorry, he confessed. taped There is а confession. You are going to hear the taped confession. He also wrote a letter of apology to the victims, Mrs. Kaven--Mr. and Mrs. Kaven, where he over and over again apologized for committing the crime and indicating that he was deeply sorry for doing it. And after hearing all the evidence, you are going to be able to conclude one At the time Eric entered that thing. house, he was unarmed and that he did fully formed conscious not have а intent to commit armed burglary of a dwelling. Therefore, ladies and gentlemen, there is only one verdict you can reach and that is not guilty as to armed burglary. Thank you.

(T. 137-138).

ŧ

Charlotte Kaven, the victim, testified that on December 2, 1992, at 2:00 p.m. she returned home and observed a pickup truck in her driveway (R. 139-140). Kaven observed a male, identified by her as the defendant, enter the truck and speed out of the area (R. 140-141).

Mrs. Kaven went into her residence and discovered that someone had broken into the residence and taken electrical equipment, jewelry and a firearm (R. 143). Kaven, thereafter, identified defendant in a lineup as the man she saw fleeing her residence (R. 153). On December 9, 1992, defendant wrote Mr. and Mrs. Kaven a letter acknowledging that he had burglarized their residence (R. 153, 165-166).

Officer Nelson of the Port St. Lucie Police Department responded to the scene of the residence where a burglary had taken place (R. 202-203). Mrs. Kaven gave Mason a description of the man she saw fleeing the residence (R. 203). Mrs. Kaven later identified defendant from a lineup as the man who burglarized her home (R. 205-209).

Detective Lapricina was dispatched to defendant's residence and recovered a rifle that was identified as the rifle owned by Mr. Kaven (R. 214-216).

The defendant gave a voluntary statement to Detective Bennett concerning the burglary (R. 236-238). The defendant admitted to the detective that he broke into the residence and took electrical equipment and a rifle (R. 240).

The defendant testified at trial and admitted that he broke the window to the Kaven residence and entered the house (R. 264). He admitted taking electrical equipment, a videocassette recorder and a case which he believed contained a musical instrument (R. 265). The defendant testified that as he started to drive away with the stolen property, Mrs. Kaven saw him in the driveway (R. 266-267). The defendant then admitted to the police that he had committed the burglary (R. 268-269).

4

ł

Prior to Officer Mason's testimony, the defense raised an objection to the prosecution's use of the police officer as a state witness on the grounds of a discovery violation 3 . The trial court heard argument and made the following finding in overruling that objection.

(For the State) I thought MISS HILL: if there was a problem, Mr. Foster (for the defense) would bring it up before trial, knowing that he was listed on His report was given to Mr. Friday. It is Foster in initial discovery. totally inadvertent. I just didn't know -- I didn't look on the witness--I I just didn't didn't file the witness list, somebody else did. I overlooked it and noticed his name wasn't listed, although his report was turned over to Defense initial was the he Counsel and responding officer.

THE COURT: What will the witness testify to:

MISS HILL: The witness is going to testify to the fact that he was the first responding officer to the scene He spoke to the of the burglary. victim, Charlotte Kaven, about what had She told him she had seen a happened. the man leaving scene, gave a description to Mike Mason, uh, who in response to that gave a BOLO over the radio to which Frank Bennett responded fitting when hesaw someone the description driving the truck fitting the description that was given out over the BOLO. There was some investigation All this is done at the scene. The above included in the report. information was radioed to the other officers on duty, uh, Mrs. Kaven told me she left the house earlier in the It is a detailed long report day.

³ The State had amended its witness list on the Friday preceeding the days of the trial Monday and Tuesday, April 26 and 27. The witness was called to testify on Tuesday.

about what she told him, about what was taken, uh, the investigation for the entry point, the screen was ripped, the investigation done--he was present for [backup] with Officer Howie. That he was contacted by Officer Bennett and advised he stopped the suspect. Officer Mason went back and picked up Mrs. Kaven, as she testified, brought her to the scene where she positively identified the Defendant as the person she saw leaving her house. Uh, that-that's the extent of his testimony. All of it is included in his report.

THE COURT: The report was an exhibit available to the Defendant in discovery?

MISS HILL: It was given to him in discovery, let me take a minute to find it, that was provided to him in discovery initially-the first pickup of discovery.

MR. FOSTER: My turn?

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. FOSTER: Judge, first of all when I filed a demand for a speedy trial, that was done April 12, I believe. He was listed--he was listed April 23, last Friday. I didn't receive the notice on It came to my attention late Friday. yesterday afternoon when I went back to my office and found it. Uh, second of all, even though I had his report, that still doesn't obviate the necessity for her to list him as a witness. I think the case law is clear on that. Okay Judge, I've had absolutely no opportunity to speak to this witness, none.

THE COURT: But you knew of his existence?

MR. FOSTER: I had the report. I'm not going to call a witness that they haven't listed. I am not going to help prove their case Judge. That is not my burden, it is clear. THE COURT: The question I'm asking though is --

MR. FOSTER: I had his report.

THE COURT: Whether you knew about him and whether you knew what his report said.

MR. FOSTER: I had his report.

THE COURT: Okay, and you are objection--objecting to his testimony?

MR. FOSTER: Absolutely.

THE COURT: Okay, the objection is noted and overruled. Uh, and I don't want to be as unartful as saying you can't have your cake and eat it, too, but that is essentially what I'm basing my ruling on. The Defendant actually knew of the existence of this witness, whether he was listed, knew the contents of his report, uh, with that knowledge demanded a speedy trial. Uh, based upon the, uh, the theory of the trial rule and actually the speedy letter of the speedy trial rule, the -where the Defendant in good faith demands а speedy trial based upon actual knowledge of the case at that time, uh, I believe then waives any right to have a witness excluded who is a known witness, but was not listed as a potential witness at that trial. So, uh, I'm going to allow the witness to testify because of the demand for speedy trial and not hold a Richardson Inquiry because I don't think that is necessary under these circumstances. Ι assume if we had a Richardson Inquiry, the Defendant would have wanted to, uh, have at least a deposition or an interview of the witness before the witness could come to the courtroom to testify.

MR. FOSTER: Well Judge I'm not sure how to answer that because you are not holding the Inquiry.

THE COURT: Yeah, I'm just assuming that is what you would say. You would at least want to do that much.

MR. FOSTER: Well Judge, I'm not saying that, the Court is saying that.

THE COURT: Well, I'm saying is that a fair assumption that you at least --

MR. FOSTER: I don't know Judge, because you are not holding the inquiry.

COURT: Well, okay Inquiry THE the really is not necessary, but that is the minimum I can imagine that a Defendant would want to do before a witness were called to testify. And based upon what is in the record here, uh, I'm simply overruling the Defendant's objection at this point. Let's bring the jury in.

(Jury enters courtroom)

THE COURT: And you may proceed ma'am.

MISS FOSTER: Thank you.

THE COURT: You're welcome.

(R. 197-201).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court made the necessary inquiry into whether the State had violated discovery by amending its witness list three days before trial. The trial court found no violation after making all the requisite inquiry regardless of the pronouncement that an inquiry was not necessary. If the trial court's inquiry was not sufficient, the error should be found harmless as the witness presented testimony that was not only known to the defendant, cumulative to other testimony, and concerned facts openly admitted by the defendant prior to and at trial in testimony to the jury. There was no prejudice to the defendant's ability to prepare for trial and because discovery requirements were "never intended to furnish a defendant with a procedural device to escape justice" any error should be deemed harmless.

ARGUMENT

COURT NOT THE TRIAL DID ERR IN **DEFENDANT'S** DISCOVERY OVERRULING OBJECTION AFTER INQUIRY WAS MADE TO DETERMINE PREJUDICE TO DEFENDANT.

The State of Florida supplemented its witness list on Friday, April 23, 1993 prior to the trial on Monday and Tuesday, April 26 and 27. The witness was the officer who was the initial responding officer. He had made a written report of the crime which the defense had in its possession. The defense objected to the witness testifying at trial because he was not on the State's original witness list. The trial court inquired into what the witness' testimony would be. The State responded that the witness had made the initial police report where he interviewed the victim, Charlotte Kaven. The testimony would be based upon what she had told him at the scene. The State informed the court that she had not made the original witness list and she amended it as soon as she had realized the officer was not listed. She had thought the supplementation was not a problem because she had listed him prior to trial and the witness was known to the defense. The defense had the report that he had made. The defense knew of the witness' existence. It was totally inadvertent omission. The victim had already testified as to what she told the officer which was the basis for the report (T. The trial court overruled the objection and allowed 138-167). the witness to testify. Although the trial court ruled that a "Richardson inquiry" was not required, he had already made the requisite inquiry and established the nonprejudice to the

defendant on the record. <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

The State would contend that the record does not disclose any noncompliance by the State with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(b)(1)(a). The witness was known to the defense and they had announced ready for trial. Further, the defense could have taken the deposition of the witness sometime before he was called, had they been diligent. The testimony of the witness was only cumulative of other evidence already heard by the jury.

The defendant's contention that the State's noncompliance with the rule entitles him, as a matter of right, to a "nonlisted" witness being excluded from testifying is not tenable. The rule was designed to furnish a defendant with information which would bona fide assist him in the defense of a charge against him. It was never intended to furnish a defendant with a procedural device to escape justice. <u>Richardson</u>, 246 So. 2d at 774.

Although the trial court verbalized that he did not think a Richardson hearing was required, in order to reach that conclusion he actually made the requisite finding to determine if the State's noncompliance resulted in harm or prejudice to the defendant. The record is clear here that there was no prejudice to the defendant. The same testimony put before the jury by this witness was put forth by previous witnesses, the defense had the report made by the witness and the defendant testified that he had committed the crime.

Richardson and its progeny, see e.g. Bradford v. State, 278 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 1983) and Cumbie v. State, 345 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1977), have established that if either the prosecution or the defense commits a discovery violation, and the aggrieved party raises a timely objection, the trial judge is obliged to conduct an inquiry into the circumstances surrounding the failure to disclose, in order to determine possible prejudice. This inquiry should include an assessment of whether the violation was willful or inadvertent, whether it was trivial or substantial, and whether or to what extent it impacted on the ability of the aggrieved party to prepare for trial. See also Wilkerson v. State, 461 So. 2d 1376, 1378-1379 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). During the inquiry, the offending party has the burden of showing that there was no prejudice to the aggrieved party. If as a result of this inquiry the judge ascertains that the aggrieved party has suffered no prejudice, the circumstances upon which he or she based this conclusion should affirmatively appear in the record.

However, "the trial court's failure to...make formal findings concerning each of the pertinent Richardson considerations does not constitute reversible error," Wilkerson v. State, 461 So. 2d 1376, 1379. Compare Hall v. State, 509 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 1987). Although the last pronouncement was to the contrary, in Smith v. State, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1987), a fourperson majority of this Court believed that a trial judge's failure to hold even an embroynic Richardson hearing may be harmless error if the defense clearly suffered no prejudice resulting from a prosecutorial discovery violation. Smith v.

<u>State</u>, 500 So. 2d 125, 127-131 (McDonald and Shaw, J.J., dissenting) and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 211, 213-214 (Fla. 1987) (Grimes and Kogan, J.J., concurring). And axiomatically, "prejudice does not result where the defen[se] obtains the [disputed] information through other means." <u>State v. Banks</u>, 418 So. 2d 1059, 1060 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982), <u>review denied</u>, 424 So. 2d 760 (Fla. 1982); see also <u>Matheson v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1987).

any event, a Richardson hearing is "not [even] In required...without a showing of some wrongdoing on the part of the State," Marshall v. State, 413 So. 2d 872, 873 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972), guashed in part on other grounds, 455 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1984); see also Larkin v. State, 474 So. 2d 1282, 1284 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Jones v. State, 477 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), and Borges v. State, 459 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). Moreover, in Richardson v. State, this Court stated that it's discovery requirements were "never intended to furnish a defendant with a procedural device to escape justice," id., 246 So. 2d 771, 774; see also Matheson v. State, 500 So. 2d 1341, 1343.

The State would further contend that if any error was committed it was harmless error. In <u>Smith</u> the court concluded that the error committed was the preclusion of the very evidence necessary for the court to determine whether the defendant was prejudiced or harmed. Here, the record reflects that the court found no prejudice to the defendant's ability to prepare for trial. Therefore, any error in the court's pronouncement that a Richardson hearing was not necessary would be harmless. <u>Smith</u>,

500 So. 2d at 126. <u>McDugle v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

In <u>Small v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 1994), this Court recently held that:

While a trial court's failure to conduct a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry has been treated as per se reversible error, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986), we hold that a trial court's failure to conduct a good cause hearing regarding compliance with the notice of alibi rule should be reviewed to determine whether the defendant was harmed by such failure.

Small, 630 So. 2d 1089.

This court in <u>Small</u> stepped down from the per se reversible error enunciated in <u>Smith</u> and remanded the case for a determination of harm to defendant. Chief Justice Barkett, in her concurrence, stated that the record reflects that given the circumstances of that case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding a defense witness without first conducting a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. <u>Small</u>, 630 So. 2d 1089, 1090. The same is true in this case.

The State submits that the per se rule of reversal in <u>Richardson</u> cases should be replaced by a harmless error analysis under <u>DiGuilio</u>. The instant case presents a very strong showing of harmless error, and exemplifies the outdated nature of the per se rule. The State requests that this Court answer the certified question in the affirmative and hold that a harmless error analysis is proper for alleged Richardson violations.

CONCLUSION

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