FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 20 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

v.

ERIC SCHOPP,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 84,061

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

ANTHONY CALVELLO
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 266345
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

Attorney for Eric Schopp

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

[Emphasis Added.]

This Honorable Court in *Thompson v. Filer*, 99 Fla. 539, 126 So. 766 (1930), ruled as follows after the appellant has filed its notice of voluntary dismissal:

Upon this cause having been set down for oral argument, the appellant filed a motion to dismiss the appeal.

Under the provisions of Rule 23 for the government of the Supreme Court, the appellant has the right to pursue this course, and, there having been no cross-assignments of error filed by the appellees and the cause not having been reached for final disposition by the court at the time when this motion was filed, the Court is bound by the provisions of the rule. The motion should, therefore, be granted and it is so ordered.

Id. at 767 [Emphasis added]; see also Gaskins v. Mack, 91 Fla. 284,
107 So. 918, 920 (1920).

Respondent contends that due to the fact that there is no

statutory prohibition to his voluntary dismissal, and in conformity with Rule 9.350(b) and this Court's decision in Thompson v. Filer, supra, there was a clear legal right on the part of the Respondent to a dismissal of his appeal where Petitioner-State never filed a cross-appeal and/or cross-assignment of error in the District Court. It follows therefore that Respondent's appeal in the Fourth District was validly dismissed on the day he filed his Notice of Voluntary Dismissal. Hence, this present appeal filed by the State is a nullity.

The Fourth District did, in fact, grant the State's "Motion to Strike" Respondent's Notice of Voluntary Dismissal. doing, the Fourth District must have assumed it was bound to entertain this "Motion to Strike." However, that assumption was incorrect. See Bird Road Baptist Church, 155 So. 2d at 422. Since the State had absolutely no standing to oppose Respondent's Notice of Voluntary Dismissal, the Fourth District clearly erred in granting Petitioner-State's "Motion to Strike" the Notice of Voluntary Dismissal of his appeal. Since the lower court's decision was dismissed or should have been dismissed by operation of Respondent's Notice of Voluntary Dismissal [See pending Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus, Schopp v. Fourth District Court of Appeal, Case No. 84,227], it follows that Petitioner-State has no case or controversy to appeal to this Honorable Court. Hence, this appeal should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION IN THIS CAUSE BECAUSE THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE LOWER COURT IS WELL SETTLED IN PREVIOUS OPINIONS RENDERED BY THIS HONORABLE COURT.

Assuming arguendo that this Court rules that it does have subject matter jurisdiction, Respondent respectfully requests this Court to decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this particular cause.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution (1980) to review a decision of a district court that is certified to pass on a question of "great public importance." See also Fla. App. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). However, this Court has absolute discretion to accept or decline to accept a question certified to it by a district court of appeal. Here, the Fourth District did certify a question to this Court as one passing upon a question of "great public importance2." However, a certificate of great public importance merely provides a jurisdictional basis for further appellate review by this Court. It does not automatically grant discretionary review or jurisdiction. See Everard v. State, 559 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

In *Everard*, the Fourth District declined to accept discretionary review of a question certified as one of great public importance by a county court judge. The Fourth District explained

SHOULD THE PER SE RULE OF SMITH BE RECONSIDERED IN LIGHT OF THE PRINCIPLES SET OUT IN DIGUILIO?

that it was not shown that the issue certified to it which involved the interpretation of the indecent exposure statute was really difficult or that it had widespread ramifications. Hence, the Fourth District found that the issue certified to it by the county court was not one of "great public importance."

Likewise, Respondent requests this Court to decline to accept jurisdiction to review the question certified here in light of this Honorable Court's recent decision in Small v. State, 630 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Fla. 1994). In Small, this Court reaffirmed and reiterated its holding in Smith v. State, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986), that a trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson inquiry is per se reversible error. Small, 630 So. 2d at 1089. Hence, no further debate, argument, or discussion is necessary to resolve this certified question. Further, Petitioner's main argument in its Initial Brief on the Merits is that the trial judge did in fact comply with Richardson. This has absolutely nothing to do with the certified question.

Finally, this Court has made it crystal clear for over twenty (20) years that the purpose of a Richardson inquiry is "to ferret out procedural prejudice occasioned by a party's discovery violation" not substantive prejudice. Smith v. State, 372 So. 2d 86, 88 (Fla. 1979); Wilcox v. State, 367 So. 2d 1020, 1023 (Fla. 1979). In Cumbie v. State, 345 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1977), this Court held that the trial court's investigation into the question of prejudice should be on the record so as to facilitate meaningful appellate review:

It is clear that the trial court's investigation of the question of prejudice was not the full inquiry Richardson requires.... A review of the cold record is not an adequate substitute for a trial judge's determined inquiry into all aspects of the state's breach of the rules, as Richardson indicates. Especially is this so in cases such as this, where a false response is given to a request for discovery.

Id., at 1062 [Footnote omitted, emphasis added.]

Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court in light of Small, Wilcox, and Smith to decline to review the question certified by the Fourth District as one of great public importance in this cause.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN OVERRULING RESPONDENT'S DISCOVERY OBJECTION TO A STATE WITNESS NOT LISTED BY THE STATE IN PRETRIAL DISCOVERY AND THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE RICHARDSON INQUIRY.

Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(b)(1)(A), the prosecutor is required to furnish the defense a written list of the names and addresses of all witnesses the prosecutor expects to call as witnesses at trial. Further, there is a continuing duty to disclose. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(j).

At bar, Petitioner-State called Officer Mason as a witness for the prosecution (R 196). Respondent's counsel objected to the state calling Officer Mason because he was not on the state's original witness list (R 196-197). The prosecutor acknowledged that this officer was not on the original witness list but added his name to an amended witness list right before trial (R 197-199). The prosecutor explained that she had inadvertently failed to include this officer's name on the original list. The prosecutor also noted that the defense had Officer Mason's police report which had been supplied in pre-trial discovery (R 198). The trial court stated that he would decline to actually hold a Richardson inquiry because of Respondent's demand for speedy trial filed fifteen (15) days before his trial commenced (R 199-200). Respondent's trial counsel wanted a Richardson inquiry on the failure of the state to list this state witness (R 201).

This Court has ruled that the exclusion of testimony is a permissible sanction under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(j). Whether a

remedy such as exclusion should be imposed depends on the totality of the circumstances. Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d at 775. A trial court's ruling on whether a discovery violation calls for the exclusion of testimony is discretionary and should not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse is clearly shown. State v. Tascarella, 580 So. 2d 154, 157 (Fla. 1991).

Once a discovery violation occurs, the trial court must conduct a hearing as to the circumstances of the violation and its potential prejudice to the defendant which hearing must address whether the discovery violation was willful or inadvertent, whether it was trivial or substantial, and whether it prejudiced the defendant's ability to prepare for trial. Richardson; State v. Hall, 509 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 1987); Butler v. State, 591 So. 2d 265, 266 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). There is no "speedy trial" exception for Richardson inquiries. Hahn v. State, 626 So. 2d 1056 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

Respondent contends that the trial court's failure to conduct a full Richardson hearing after defense counsel objected to the State's clear failure to include the name of this state witness on its witness list constituted per se reversible error. See Ward v. State, 477 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), approved 502 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1986); McDugle v. State, 591 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). Contra Craig v. State, 585 So. 2d 278, 281 (Fla. 1991); Banks v. State, 590 So. 2d 465, 467 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Here, the trial court expressly refused to hold a Richardson inquiry (R 200-201). A Richardson inquiry is designed to ferret

out procedural prejudice occasioned by a party's discovery violation on the record. *Cumbie*, 345 So. 2d at 1062. Therefore, the Fourth District correctly reversed Respondent's convictions for a new trial.

POINT IV

THIS HONORABLE COURT SHOULD REAFFIRM ONCE AGAIN THE PER SE REVERSAL RULE CONTAINED IN RICHARDSON BECAUSE BOTH LEGAL AND PRACTICAL CONSIDERATIONS SUPPORT IT.

Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court not to reconsider its numerous decisions on this issue in light of this Court's recent reiterations of the rule that it is per se reversible error to fail to conduct a Richardson inquiry. See Suggs v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S423, 424 (Fla. Sept. 1, 1994) ("The failure to conduct a Richardson hearing in the face of a discovery violation is per se reversible error once the violation has been brought to the court's attention and a Richardson hearing has been requested. Smith v. State, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986)"); Small v. State, 630 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Fla. 1994). In Small, this Court reaffirmed and reiterated the holding in Smith v. State, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986) that a trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson inquiry is per se reversible error. Small, 630 So. 2d at 1089. See also Ward v. State, 502 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1986).

This Honorable Court has repeatedly made clear that the purpose of a Richardson inquiry is "to ferret out procedural prejudice occasioned by a party's discovery violation" not substantive prejudice. Smith v. State, 372 So. 2d 86, 88 (Fla. 1979); Wilcox v. State, 367 So. 2d 1020, 1023 (Fla. 1979). In Cumbie, this Court held that the trial court's investigation into the question of prejudice should be on the record so as to facilitate meaningful appellate review:

It is clear that the trial court's investigation of the question of prejudice was not the full inquiry Richardson requires.... A review of the cold record is not an adequate substitute for a trial judge's determined inquiry into all aspects of the state's breach of the rules, as Richardson indicates. Especially is this so in cases such as this, where a false response is given to a request for discovery.

Id., at 1062 [Footnote omitted, emphasis added].

Former Chief Justice Barkett in Smith aptly and concisely articulated the practical and legal reasons for adhering to the per se reversal rule for failure to conduct a Richardson inquiry:

First, from a practical perspective, the rule Richardson and its progeny effectively and accommodates the various competing interests. The command of Rule 3.220(a) is simple, clear and direct. The state is required to disclose and provide If the state fails to discharge discovery. its duty in this regard, the trial court must inquire into the circumstances of discovery violation and its possible prejudice This process contains to the defendant. enormous flexibility by providing a panoply of remedies which a judge may apply if a discovery violation has occurred, including, if the evidence warrants, finding no prejudice or "harmless error" and proceeding with the trial.

We see no evidence that the clear dictates of this integral component of Florida law have imposed any significant hardship on the bench or bar or have worked any injustice. On the contrary, the requirement that a trial court merely listen and evaluate any claim of prejudice accompanied by the minor delay which most hearings or inquiries will impose on a trial is more than justified by the assurance of compliance with our rules and requirements of due process.

Second, legal considerations also mandate our continued adherence to *Richardson* and its progeny. The certified question in this case

misapprehends the very purpose of a Richardson hearing, which is precisely to determine if a violation is, in fact, harmless. One cannot determine whether the state's transgression of discovery rules has prejudiced the defendant (or has been harmless) without giving the defendant the opportunity to speak to the question. We repeat what the court made clear in Wilcox. A reviewing court cannot determine whether the error is harmless without giving the defendant the opportunity to show prejudice or harm. 367 So. 2d at 1023. In Wilcox, the state sought to resist reversal by asserting that "no prejudice resulted because the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the [previously undisclosed] statement." Id. at 1022. In rejecting this argument, this court explained that question of "prejudice" in a discovery context is not dependent upon the potential impact of the undisclosed evidence on the fact finder but rather on its impact on the defendant's ability to prepare for trial [citations omitted].

If the "trial court [is] in no position to make an accurate judgment" without giving the defendant the opportunity to show prejudice, how then can a reviewing court do so? As this Court expressly held in Cumbie, "[a] review of the cold record is not an adequate substitute for a trial judge's determined inquiry into all aspects of the state's breach of the rules." 345 So. 2d at 1062. It is not adequate because the error committed is the preclusion of the very evidence necessary to make a judgment of the existence of prejudice or harm.

The state is essentially asking us to disregard all concern for procedural prejudice and abandon *Richardson*. We can see no justification for doing so.

Id. at 125-126 [Emphasis Added].

This Court has repeatedly indicated over the years that the per se rule has satisfactorily accommodated the various competing interests involved. See Brown v. State, 515 So. 2d 121 (Fla.

1987); Smith v. State, 500 So. 2d at 125-126; Ward, 502 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1986). This rule is well settled and is thoroughly known by every criminal division trial judge and presumably by every prosecutor throughout our State. It cannot be seriously suggested by Petitioner-State that conducting a Richardson inquiry, causes any real inconvenience to our justice system. Finally, in Smith, supra, this Court saw no evidence that the per se reversal rule imposed any significant hardship on the court or has otherwise caused any real injustice. None has been demonstrated by Petitioner-State.

It should be noted that *Smith* and *Ward* were both decided well after this Court rendered it's decision in *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), which is totally inapplicable to the discovery rule violation issue presented at bar. This totally negates the notion that "re-examination" of *Smith* is needed in light of this Court's decision in *DiGuilio*.

Respondent respectfully requests this Court to answer the certified question in the negative and affirm once again the per se reversal rule contained in Richardson and its progeny. Hence, Respondent's convictions must be reversed for a new trial due to the trial court's failure to conduct a full and complete Richardson inquiry. The decision of the Fourth District reversing Respondent's convictions for a new trial should be AFFIRMED.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to dismiss the instant appeal with prejudice or decline to exercise its jurisdiction over the instant cause or affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which granted Respondent a new trial.